IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. SC06-1919

Complainant,

v. DEWEY HOMER VARNER JR., The Florida Bar File No. 2005-51,022(15C)

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Appellee, will be referred to as "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar." Dewey Homer Varner, Jr., Appellant, will be referred to as "Respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the report of referee and the symbol "TT" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing held in this matter. Exhibits introduced by the parties will be designated as TFB Ex. ____ or Resp. Ex.

- 1 -

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

After first having filed a complaint against Patricia Thorne, Jerry Lee Lindale grieved the Respondent, Dewey Homer Varner, Jr., who was Thorne's former law partner. See TFB 2; TT444-455.¹ A year and a half after Lindale complained to the Bar, the Bar filed distinct formal complaints against both Thorne² and Varner. The final hearing in this case was held on four different days, spread out over three months, with the last day of the trial being held on September 10, 2007.³ The Referee, the Honorable Peggy Tribbett Gehl, served her Report of Referee on September 19, 2007, wherein she has found the Respondent guilty of certain rule violations and is recommending a ninety one day suspension from the practice of law.

In February 2000, Lindale met with Thorne concerning a workers compensation claim and retained the law firm then known as Varner & Thorne, P.A. RR2. There were two name partners, the Respondent, Dewey Varner, and Patricia Thorne, Esquire. RR2; TT133-136. At the time of this retention there were no other partners, but the law firm had two different associates who worked

¹ Lindale filed his grievance against Thorne on or about January 20, 2005, and after having met with Thorne, filed the grievance against the Respondent that is dated February 24, 2005. TT114; TBB Ex. 2.

² The Thorne complaint and disciplinary file is designated as Supreme Court Case No. SC06-1982.

³ Portions of the final hearing were held on June 20, 2007, June 21, 2007, August 15, 2007 and September 10, 2007.

at the firm during part of the time frame that the law firm represented Lindale. TT231-233, 244 & 542. The law firm also employed several nonlawyers in secretarial and paralegal capacities. The two partners had known each other for several years, prior to entering into their partnership.⁴ Prior to the creation of Varner & Thorne, P.A., Varner practiced mainly in the personal injury field and Thorne practiced primarily in the workers compensation field.

While the focus of this case related to the prosecution of one distinct workers compensation case, Lindale had retained the law firm on more than one claim against the Palm Beach County School Board. RR2. The accident at issue arose on October 15, 1999, wherein Lindale claimed to have been injured while climbing a fence. TT18-19. The School Board's attorney, Amy Smith,⁵ testified that her client did not believe the accident occurred and that therefore the case was fully controverted. TT33-24. Thorne was the attorney of record for the Lindale case. TT 19.

The case proceeded normally and by the summer of 2003 the case was set for mediation followed by a trial and several depositions were set before that time.

⁴ The testimony also revealed that the two partners knew each other prior to the time that Thorne became admitted to the Bar and that when she was a newly admitted attorney she worked as an associate for the Respondent. TT131-136.

⁵ At the time of the operative events in this case, Smith was the defense attorney. However, prior to the ultimate settlement of Lindale's case, Smith was elected as a circuit court judge.

RR2-3. The trial, the mediation and one deposition were cancelled after the Respondent served, on August 14, 2003, a notice of voluntary dismissal without prejudice concerning the October 15, 1999 accident only. RR3-4. Also see TFB Ex. 1. Both parties agreed, and the Referee so found, that Lindale did not consent to the filing of the dismissal. However, it was the Respondent's position that his partner, Thorne, had advised him that she had secured Lindale's consent to take the dismissal. TT204. The Report of Referee declined to accept this explanation. RR4.

Several months after the dismissal and for reasons unrelated to the Lindale case, the law firm dissolved and Lindale's remaining claims and file were taken by Thorne to her new office. TT206-208. Ultimately, Lindale discharged Thorne when he claims to have discovered the dismissal and retains new counsel, who successfully settles all of Lindale's claims, inclusive of the case that was dismissed by the Respondent. TT97; Resp. Ex. 1.

The Referee, based on these facts has found the Respondent guilty of a variety of rule violations. In Count I, the Referee found that the Respondent violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 41.1 [lack of competence]; 41.2(a) [failure to follow a clients instructions] and 4-3.2 [failing to expedite litigation].⁶ As to Count II, the Respondent was found guilty of violating R. Regulating Fla. Bar 41.4(b)

⁶ As to all Counts the Referee found certain catch-all and procedural rules. These were R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.2, 3-4.3, 4-8.4(a) and 4-8.4(d).

[communication] and 4-1.6(d) [failing to protect a client upon withdrawal]. Lastly, in Count III the Referee found a violation of 4-8.4(c) [dishonesty]. As a sanction, the Referee, without much explanation or citation to specific precedent, is recommending a ninety one day suspension from the practice of law.

As the Respondent believes that the Referee's findings are not supported by the record, he has filed this appeal seeking review of the Referee's factual findings, her findings of guilt and her sanction recommendation.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the heart of the Bar disciplinary process is the concept that this Court must protect the public from being harmed from unethical attorneys. The Respondent, Dewey Varner is not an unethical lawyer. It has been the Respondent's position throughout this case that he tried to be a good partner and friend to Patricia Thorne, who had serious mental health concerns that needed constant attention and treatment. In fact were in not for these health concerns the Respondent would not have been involved in the workers compensation case that forms the backdrop to this disciplinary action.

In the case at hand, the Court is going to be faced with making a decision on which partner to believe regarding a conversation(s) that they had regarding the need to take a voluntary dismissal of one of Mr. Lindale's workers compensation claims. It has been the Respondent's consistent position that he discussed with his partner the need to take a dismissal of Mr. Lindale's case as there was surveillance videotape showing Mr. Lindale engaging in physical activity that he claimed he could not do and also showed him working at a time he was claiming lost wages for not being able to work. This created a very real concern that continuing with this one particular claim could subject Mr. Lindale (and potentially his counsel) to insurance fraud allegations.

At the crucial time frame in this case, mid August 2003, Thorne was not in the office, but was still in control of her cases and Lindale was one of her cases. The documentary evidence, which comes from records produced by Thorne to the Bar, shows that she was trying to contact Lindale at the time frame where she informed the Respondent that the client had authorized a dismissal. The documentary evidence also shows that Lindale had received the videotapes and called back to comment on same. Nonetheless, the Referee chose to believe Thorne's version of events, but only after severely curtailing the cross examination of the Bar's key witness. The purpose of the examination was to point out the inconsistencies in her testimony verses the documents that she had produced to the Bar and the letters that she had written to the Bar at a time when she was being investigated for the same actions the Respondent stands accused of committing.

Even if the Referee's findings of fact and guilt are upheld, the recommended sanction of a ninety one day suspension is not warranted under existing case law. While the Respondent does have one prior disciplinary suspension it is seven years old and should not be given the weight that the Bar has convinced the Referee to ascribe to same.

The Bar seeks to suspend a lawyer for taking a voluntary dismissal of a case wherein the lawyer believed, based on a conversation with his partner, that the client had provided his consent to take the action. While the case was initially

- 7 -

dismissed, successor counsel, who took over the case after Thorne failed to prosecute his other claim or personally communicate with Lindale for more than a year, was able to reopen the case and secure a settlement of both of Mr. Lindale's workers compensation claims. Thus, there was ultimately no harm to Lindale.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND GUILT ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

The Florida Bar filed a three count complaint against the Respondent relative to the representation of Jerry Lee Lindale, who was represented by the Respondent's law firm concerning a workers compensation claim. In Count I of its complaint, the Bar alleges that the Respondent failed to provide competent representation, failed to inform the client that a dismissal was being taken as to one of his claims, and failed to make reasonable efforts to expedite litigation. In Count II, the Bar charges the Respondent with a lack of communication and failing to take adequate steps to protect the client upon the termination of representation. Lastly, in Count III the Bar asserts that the Respondent engaged in conduct involving dishonest, fraud, deceit and misrepresentation. In order to properly resolve these claims, one must not only analyze Mr. Lindale's workers compensation case, but one must also examine the inner workings of the Respondent's law firm and his relationship with his former kw partner, who first consulted with Lindale and was the lawyer who signed Mr. Lindale to a retainer agreement with the law firm.

It is well settled that a referee's findings of fact and guilt are presumed to be correct and the appealing party has the burden to demonstrate that these findings are "clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support." *The Florida Bar v.*

- 9 -

Canto, 668 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1996); *The Florida Bar v. Porter*, 684 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1996). It is respectfully contended that a careful examination of the record will reveal that the referee in this case overlooked certain key evidence and ignored uncontroverted testimony that would have exonerated the Respondent in this case.

A. Lindale's retention of the law firm and processing of claims.

The Respondent has enjoyed a long and successful career as a personal injury attorney, working by himself or in various partnerships. In early 2000, the Respondent formed a partnership with Patricia Thorne. As Thorne primarily practiced in the workers compensation field and the Respondent in the personal injury field, the office was divided into two fields with staff primarily reporting to either Thorne or the Respondent, depending on the type of case. TT133-134. While the Respondent did not have experience in the workers compensation field, he was very competent on the medical issues that arose in both sides of the practice and as such assisted Thorne on her cases by conducting discovery depositions and when necessary hearings that did not involve the intricacies of the workers compensation statutes. TT144-146. During the majority of the time frame at issue in this case, the law firm employed two different associates, both of whom assisted in the prosecution of the firm's workers compensation claims, as well as a support staff or twelve to fourteen. TT231, 244 & 542.

In February 2000, Jerry Lee Lindale met with Thorne and discussed his claim that he was injured at his place of employment on October 15, 1999. TT18.⁷ After meeting with Thorne the law firm was retained to prosecute this claim. RR2. Apparently the case proceeded normally until the summer of 2003. TT234.

However, in 2003 all is not well in the law firm. While Thorne suffered from a variety of mental health issues for a significant period of time,⁸ she testified at trial that her condition was improving in 2003. TT233. However, by her own testimony Thorne during this time frame was "not generally meeting with clients" and not attending hearings but instead was just sitting in the office "cranking out pleadings" and only talking to clients when she had to do so. TT239. Yet, the other witnesses that testified at the trial stated that she remained in control of her files.⁹ Further, Thorne admitted that even up to the crucial time frame in this case,

⁷ Testimony also revealed that Lindale claimed injuries from an incident on October 11, 1999 and January 27, 1997. TT18. The law firm was ultimately retained on both October 1999 incidents.

⁸ Due to the sensitive nature of mental health concerns and the variety of confidentiality statutes, this brief will no go into detail on the extensive nature of Thorne's mental health illnesses and would ask the Court to refer to the record below for the exact nature and extent of these illnesses and to take judicial notice of any and all mental health records introduced in *The Florida Bar v. Thorne*, Sup. Ct. Case No. SC06-1982. In short, Thorne testified that she suffered from a bipolar (type II) personality, as well as ADHD and OCD. TT228.

⁹ Norma Almazon, a firm secretary, testified that Thorne would come in after hours, leave instructions on the work that needed to be done and generally

August of 2003, she was in the office working on files. In particular her own billing statement reflects regular activity on the Lindale file all through 2003.¹⁰ See Resp. Ex 3. In fact forty five of the fifty one entries on the billing statement for the period beginning January 1, 2003 and ending August 14, 2003, reflect the work being done and billed by Thorne. Other law firm records introduced at the final hearing indicate that Thorne was actively working on the Lindale trial and preparing the case for trial. See Resp. Ex. 4 (a Petition for Benefits), 5 (correspondence), 6 and 10 (printouts from the Messages section of the case management software). For example the Messages reflect that on August 5, 2003, Thorne was looking for the client's "journal" so she could prepare the case for mediation and trial which were scheduled for August 15, 2003 and August 25, 2003, respectively.

B. The notice of voluntary dismissal.

At the core of this case is a notice of voluntary dismissal executed and served by the Respondent on August 14, 2003. The testimony at trial adduced that

supervised her files. TT295-297. Also see Respondent's testimony at TT155-160 and at 184 wherein he states that Thorne and he talked almost every day.

¹⁰ These billing statements that show activity on the file by Thorne indicate that Amy Smith's testimony that the Respondent had taken the Lindale case over was not accurate in that Smith was not privy to the internal workings of the law firm. At most, Varner had taken over the depositions and was the attorney ordinarily discussing the case with Smith. However, this did not mean that Thorne was no longer working on the file, as she clearly was.

in late January of 2003, it was discovered by the Respondent in a conversation with defense counsel, that the defense had conducted some form of surveillance of Lindale and that it was not favorable. See Resp. Ex. 6 (January 29, 2003 entry). The Respondent and Thorne discussed this potential surveillance on several occasions. TT587. The Respondent testified that:

Patricia and I had talked about it. And she said that it would absolutely kill us. That she didn't want to go forward with the trial on it, because of the surveillance tape. And she asked me to call (the defense counsel) and see if I could just buy some time to get the mediation and the trial put on. $(sic)^{11}$ TT608.

This conversation regarding a potential dismissal of the case was repeated on several occasions since the discovery of the potential surveillance and the actual surveillance tape being made available.¹² TT612-616. However, it is the Respondent's testimony that after taking Dr. Katzell's deposition on August 11, 2003, at which the surveillance tape was played for the doctor to review and make comment upon, he had the specific conversation referenced above. TT612. Further, the Respondent testified that Thorne said she would confer with Lindale to get his permission to take the dismissal and in a subsequent conversation informed

¹¹ This should read "off."

¹² Thorne, on cross, admitted to at least one conversation with the Respondent about the surveillance and admitted to a separate call with defense counsel who "warned her" about the content of the tapes. TT471-472.

the Respondent that she had talked to Lindale and he had approved the dismissal. TT616-618.¹³

With this background in mind, he Respondent went on to testify that he tried to convince, Amy Smith, the opposing counsel, to continue the mediation and the trial but that he was unsuccessful in that regard. TT609. Smith confirmed that the Respondent first tried to continue both the mediation and the trial but she did not agree to same but instead insisted on a voluntary dismissal. TT27-28. During this phone call the Respondent advised Smith that a voluntary dismissal would be filed.¹⁴ On August 14, 2003, the Respondent executed the notice of voluntary dismissal and caused it to be served thus concluding the litigation on the October 15, 1999 claim.

¹³ The documentary evidence in this case reveals that Thorne was trying to call Lindale several times on August 13, 2003 and that she was continuing to try and call him. See Resp. Ex. 6 and in particular the first 8/13/2003 notation in Messages. The Messages also reflect a call to Thorne on August 14, 2003 reflecting he had seen the videotapes. See Resp. Ex. 6.

¹⁴ A significant amount of trial testimony was devoted to the actual timeline of activity in the case regarding depositions that were scheduled and then cancelled as well as when the law firm first drafted the notice of voluntary dismissal and all phone calls related to the dismissal. However, the documentary evidence contained within the Messages (Resp. Ex. 6) and the other documents introduced at trial (the actual notice – TFB Ex. 1) show that the Respondent's phone call with Smith had to be on August 13 or 14, 2003 and that the notice of voluntary dismissal was served via facsimile on August 14, 2003.

1. <u>Count I</u>

In Count I the Bar charged and the Referee found that the Respondent failed to provide competent representation to Lindale; that he failed to abide by his client's decisions regarding settlement or disposition of his case and that he failed to expedite litigation.

This Court has held that in order to find a violation of a lack of competence that lawyer's conduct "must be somewhat egregious to be considered incompetent" and a violation of the rule. *The Florida Bar v. Rose*, 823 So. 2d 727,730 (Fla. 2002). This Court has further noted that when the courts consider claims concerning a lack of competence the reviewing court should ". . . permit a certain amount of deference to an attorney's trial strategy or tactical decisions." *Id.* at 730. In applying this standard to the case at hand it is evident that the decision to take a voluntary dismissal under the facts of this case was not incompetent.

The only fact referenced in the Report of Referee that might support this finding is that the Respondent did not consider the statute of limitations at the time the dismissal was taken. RR5, para. 18. While the Respondent candidly admitted that he did not consider this fact, the overriding concern was that the surveillance tape indicated that Lindale was not injured in the manner that he claimed he was and that if the case was pursued through trial the client and the lawyers could have been accused of insurance fraud.¹⁵ Successor counsel, who was able to reopen and settle the claim, agreed that a dismissal would have been reasonable if there was a "fear that their client was nothing but a fraud." TT113.

It should also be noted that the Respondent testified that his partner, Thorne, believed that she could still recover significant damages on the other October 1999 claim and by dismissing the case with the surveillance video there would be no reason for the potentially fraudulent activities of the client to be introduced in this other case. TT187-189.

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