IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V.

DEWEY HOMER VARNER, JR.,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. SC06-1919

The Florida Bar File No. 2005-51,022(15C)

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF ON APPEAL FROM A REPORT OF REFEREE

LORRAINE CHRISTINE HOFFMANN, #612669 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (954) 772-2245

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN #200999 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Standard of Review

It is well settled that a referee's findings of fact enjoy the presumption of correctness and may not be disturbed until and unless the appellant demonstrates clear error or a lack of evidentiary support. Absent such a showing, this Court will not reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the referee. <u>The Florida Bar v. Rose</u>, 823 So. 2d 727, 729 (Fla. 2002). Similarly, as a general rule, this Court will not second-guess a referee's recommendation of discipline, unless it has no reasonable basis in the case law or in *The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions*. <u>The Florida Bar v. Mason</u>, 826 So. 2d 985, 987 (Fla. 2002).

In the instant case, respondent's law firm, Varner and Thorne, P.A. represented Jerry L. Lindale in a workers' compensation case against the Palm Beach County School District. Although respondent's partner, Patricia Thorne, had met with the client and accepted Lindale's case, the law firm was attorney of record and opposing counsel, (now) Judge Amy Smith, testified that she *never* dealt with Thorne on the Lindale case. All of her contact, discussion, negotiation and discovery was with respondent or his subordinates. Judge Smith also testified that she knew Thorne personally, and knew that she was experiencing a mental health crisis as the Lindale case approached its merit hearing. Other witnesses,

including law firm secretary Norma Almazan and paralegal Isis San Miguel, testified that Thorne was "sick" during this particular time period, and that she was unable to work and often out of the office, receiving treatment at The Pavilion at McLean Hospital, at Harvard University in Boston. Judge Smith testified that she knew that Thorne was ill, and Lindale himself shared this information with Lindale's successor counsel, Charles Williams. [T. 75]. Respondent himself agreed [T. 154], and testified about the troubling manifestations of Thorne's diagnosis, including her manic mood swings, her problems with medication [T. 157, 207-208, 564-567], and her sense of isolation. [T. 567.] Yet, respondent still maintains the nonsensical position that Thorne was "in charge" of the Lindale case, and that she made all of the decisions relating to its progress — even as she muddled through her fog of mental illness — shuttling between Palm Beach County and Boston.

In August 2003, as the Lindale case neared merit hearing, opposing counsel scheduled a doctor's deposition. Respondent appeared on behalf of Lindale, but paid little attention. He asked few questions, allowed opposing counsel free reign with the witness, and read what appeared to be a magazine during the deposition. Not wanting to spend more time or any attention on the Lindale case, respondent called opposing counsel the next day or the day after that, and asked her to discontinue further discovery. When she refused, absent a notice of voluntary dismissal, respondent instantly agreed to dismiss the case. Respondent did not tell

Judge Smith that he needed to check with Thorne or the client. [T. 55-56.] He did not tell her that he needed to check the statute of limitations (which had run), and he did not tell her that he would have to consider the matter. Instead, during the very same telephone call during which he asked to continue the discovery, respondent agreed to voluntarily dismiss Lindale's case. As respondent stated in the summary of his argument, in his initial brief, it has been his "consistent position" (emphasis added), that he "discussed with his partner the need to take a dismissal of Mr. Lindale's case as there was surveillance videotape showing Mr. Lindale engaging in physical activity." However, respondent was unable to demonstrate, at trial, that he ever had such a conversation with Thorne or that the surveillance tapes were dispositive of anything.⁶ The referee considered respondent's testimony regarding his alleged conversation with Thorne, and expressly rejected it as less than credible, given the record evidence to the contrary. [RR. 4.] This dearth of trial evidence, as to respondent's alleged conversation with the mentally-ill Thorne, cannot become more convincing on appeal.

Equally, and perhaps more troubling, is the manner in which and purpose for which respondent took an unauthorized dismissal of Lindale's claim. The record evidence demonstrates that respondent took the dismissal in order to avoid the

⁶ Indeed, the evidence demonstrated that the surveillance tapes were of no consequence in the case, as successor counsel was able to revive the case, despite the expiration of the statute of limitations and the existence of the surveillance tapes, and obtain an excellent award for Jerry L. Lindale. [T. 97.]

bother of prosecuting the case for a client whom respondent considered to be "crazy" [T. 159-160] and therefore insignificant, and/or to create a scenario that would place the blame for the dismissal upon his law partner, Patricia Thorne. Respondent had invited Thorne into his law practice while his own bar disciplinary case was on appeal, so that he could continue to work as a paralegal in his own law office during his expected suspension. After respondent completed his 90-day suspension, Thorne was no longer useful to him. Indeed, due to her mental health problems, she had become loathsome and bothersome to him, and respondent wanted to be rid of her. Thorne, who admired and respected respondent (he had been her deceased father's good friend and lawyer), did not want to leave the partnership. Respondent had been unsuccessful in shoving her out, even after he caused or assisted his paralegal, Isis San Miguel, to file a bar complaint against her in May of 2003 — just two days after the false pleading at issue was filed. [T. 635, 668.]

Whether respondent's action in dismissing Lindale's case was motivated by disinterest or malice, the record evidence clearly demonstrates that it was not motivated by any direction that respondent took from his law partner, Patricia Thorne. The referee expressly rejected respondent's defense, and upon the weight of the clear and convincing evidence before her, found respondent guilty of all charges set forth in The Florida Bar's complaint.

15

Because respondent had already been suspended for 90 days in another case (also involving his ongoing dispute with Thorne) involving similar misconduct (dishonesty and misrepresentation), the referee recommended that respondent receive a 91-day suspension, and that he be compelled to pay The Florida Bar's costs in this proceeding. As this discipline is within the guidelines established by both the case law and the *Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions*, it should be approved.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS ARE WELL SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL RECORD EVIDENCE, AND SHOULD BE UPHELD.

This Court's standard of review for evaluating a referee's findings of fact and recommendations as to guilt is limited, and "if a referee's findings of fact and conclusions concerning guilt are supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record," the Court will not "reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the referee." <u>The Florida Bar v. Shoureas</u>, 892 So. 2d 1002, 1005 (Fla. 2004) *quoting* <u>The Florida Bar v. Rose</u>, 823 So. 2d 727, 729 (Fla. 2002). The Court's standard of review for evaluating a referee's disciplinary recommendation is broader: "[a]s a general rule, the Court will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as it is (1) authorized under the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and (2) has a reasonable basis in existing case law." <u>Shoureas</u>, at 1005 and 1006.

In the instant case, respondent has asked this Court to review the referee's findings, upon his charge that she "overlooked certain key evidence and ignored uncontroverted testimony that would have exonerated Respondent in this case." Respondent's Initial Brief, p. 10. However, respondent has failed to advance "key evidence" and "uncontroverted testimony" sufficient to meet his burden of proving that the referee's findings are unsupported by the record on appeal. The Florida Bar

demonstrates that herein, using respondent's headings, as set forth in his Initial Brief.

A. Lindale's Retention of the Law Firm and Processing of Claims

Respondent is correct in his assertion that Thorne (and not Varner) met with Lindale in February 2000, when Lindale hired the newly-formed law firm of Varner and Thorne, P.A. to represent him in his workers' compensation action. However, respondent's argument that Thorne was well and able to work and bill on the Lindale file, in 2003, is both misplaced and devoid of record support.

Beginning with respondent himself, *all* of the trial (fact) witnesses testified about respondent's compromised mental health in 2003. Respondent knew that Thorne was suffering bouts of mental illness in 2003, and testified to this knowledge, at great length, at trial. [T. 154, 564-566, 655-656.] Judge Smith testified that Lindale and his subordinate lawyers (and *not* Thorne) handled all aspects of the Lindale case, because Thorne was too ill to do so. [T. 18-20, 22, 55-56.] She also testified that Thorne's name appeared for the firm, on many of the Lindale pleadings, as the default attorney, and conceded that that fact was dispositive of nothing regarding Thorne's actual involvement in the case. [T. 21-22.] Lindale's successor counsel, Charles Williams, testified that Lindale told him that respondent had been handling Lindale's case because Thorne "had been away and whatever." [T. 75.] Thorne herself testified, at length, about her

escalating struggle with her bipolarity and other mental illnesses, and her long treatment sessions at The Pavilion, at McLean Hospital, in Boston. [T. 226, 242-244, 262-264, 275.] And, contrary to respondent's claim in his initial brief at page 11, Thorne did *not* testify that her mental condition "was improving in 2003." To the contrary, Thorne testified (at page 233 of the trial transcript) that her mental condition in February 2000 was "much better" than her condition in 2003. [T. 233, lines 16-22.] Additional, competent evidence regarding Thorne's illness, and her inability to function as a lawyer, was offered by the law firm's secretary, Norma Almazan, who testified that Thorne was unable to handle her case load, which had been taken over by respondent. [T. 302-303.] Even Isis San Miguel, respondent's long-term paralegal who was "loyal to Mr. Varner" [T. 392], conceded that Thorne had mental problems "for which she was being treated" [T. 384-385], and that even when she came into the office, she wasn't working. [T. 387.]

Finally, while the law firm's billing records referenced Thorne's presence and work in the office during time period when she was not there, both respondent and Thorne testified that the law firm's electronic case management system (Client Profiles⁷) was inaccurate as to the author of the entry, as well as the staff member or attorney assigned to the task or entry. Respondent testified that the software program entries were inaccurate [T. 171-174], and that entries could be (and were)

7

[[]T. 285.]

affected if one user accessed another's computer — which occurred with some frequency in the law firm. [T. 651.] Thorne testified to these inaccuracies as well, but was able to use the system, at trial, to demonstrate which computer generated which pleading, and when. [T. 305-321.]

Accordingly, these flawed and inconsistent records cannot create "key evidence." Indeed, as the testimony offered by these witnesses is wholly *consistent* with the referee's findings, respondent has neither advanced nor exposed "uncontroverted testimony" sufficient to meet his burden of proving that the referee's findings are unsupported by the record on appeal.

B. The Notice of Voluntary Dismissal

Respondent seeks to present his own controverted and unsupported testimony, to demonstrate that the referee erred in her reliance on other, more credible evidence. This argument is ineffective and insufficient, in that an appellant cannot meet his burden of proving clearly erroneous findings by demonstrating that the record contains other evidence as well. The Florida Bar v. Senton, 882 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 2004); The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 2000). In bar disciplinary cases, the referee is charged with the responsibility of assessing the creditability of witnesses, based on their demeanor and other factors. The Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 1999); The Florida Bar v. Hayden, 583 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1991). In the case at bar, the referee listened carefully to the

testimony presented, and scrutinized the documents introduced into evidence. She asked her own questions, where necessary. Utilizing the discretion reserved unto her alone, the referee found the bar's evidence to be the more credible. Respondent may not vitiate the referee's determination, as to the weight and sufficiency of that evidence, by arguing that other evidence (however unsupported) exists.

In reaching her conclusions of guilt, the referee relied on Judge Smith's testimony that respondent called her, on a date between August 12th and August 13th, 2003, and asked her to continue or cancel the discovery in the Lindale case. Judge Smith testified that she refused, and that, in the very same telephone conversation, respondent agreed to take a voluntary dismissal of Lindale's case. The referee correctly rejected all of respondent's testimony about prior conversations with Thorne (about whether to take the dismissal, as well as the value and projected effect of the standard surveillance tapes at issue). Finding that respondent had no prior conversation with Thorne, the referee correctly reasoned that if respondent intended and was authorized to dismiss Lindale's case, there would have been no reason for his call to opposing counsel seeking to continue the discovery in that case. The referee also recognized that if respondent sought and obtained actual approval from Lindale and Thorne prior to agreeing to the voluntary dismissal, he could not have done so in the space of a single, brief telephone conversation with Judge Smith.

1. <u>Count I</u>

Respondent has failed to demonstrate a lack of record evidence to support the referee's findings of guilt as to Count I of The Florida Bar's complaint. Conversely, there is ample record support for the referee's finding that respondent was incompetent in his representation of Jerry L. Lindale. Respondent demonstrated incompetence by failing to prepare Lindale's case for merit hearing, as scheduled on August 25, 2003. He demonstrated incompetence during the School District's deposition of Lindale's treating physician, Dr. Katzell, on August 11, 2003. Based on the testimony of both Judge Smith and Charles Williams, Esq., respondent allowed opposing counsel to ask objectionable questions, without objection. He asked few questions of his own. He allowed the witness to play "fast and loose" [T. 81], and instead of paying attention, he read a Additionally, respondent allowed magazine. opposing counsel direct communication with Lindale [T. 51], as if he had no lawyer. And, when he tired of Lindale's representation (because he had other things to do or because he wanted to use this "crazy" client's case to push his law partner out of his practice), respondent knowingly filed a false, unauthorized voluntary dismissal, without even knowing when (or if) the statute of limitations would run.

This ample, record evidence cannot be compromised by any misstatements or confused testimony by Patricia Thorne, even if same existed, as respondent has

22

charged. But Thorne made no misstatements in her testimony. She was not confused. While she did state that she learned of the voluntary dismissal of Thorne's case from Judge Smith, she also (accurately) testified that she did not know that respondent had taken an *unauthorized* voluntary dismissal until she received the bar complaint. The two statements which respondent holds up as evidence of misrepresentation or inconsistency are anything but inconsistent. Thorne told no "stories," as respondent has charged. The referee understood this, and made appropriate findings, which are well-supported by the trial record.

2. <u>Count II</u>

Respondent takes issue with the referee's findings that respondent did not tell Lindale that respondent had dismissed his case, and failed to protect Lindale's interests after the termination of his cause of action.

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